No. 43870-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

KISHA LASHAWN FISHER,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-01011-4 The Honorable Vicki Hogan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. Assignments Of Error

- The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kisha Fisher acted as an accomplice to felony murder as charged in Count 1.
- The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kisha Fisher acted as an accomplice to second degree murder as charged in Count 2.
- Trial court erred when it refused Kisha Fisher's request to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense to felony murder and second degree murder.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Is evidence that Kisha Fisher overheard her boyfriend and another man or men discuss the possibility of robbing Lenard Masten, and that Kisha Fisher placed a three-way phone call to Lenard Masten a few minutes before he was shot by one of those men, sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kisha Fisher intended to assist the men in robbing Lenard Masten and that she therefore acted as an accomplice to the robbery, and is therefore guilty of first degree felony murder? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Where there was no evidence that any participant discussed

or intended in advance to commit an assault, and no evidence that the idea of an assault was ever discussed in Kisha Fisher's presence, did the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kisha Fisher acted as an accomplice to the assault that formed the basis for the second degree murder charge alleged in Count 2? (Assignment of Error 2)

3. The trial court's refusal to include Kisha Fisher's affirmative defense jury instruction denied her constitutional right to present a defense, and to have the jury fully informed of the applicable law. (Assignment of Error 3)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Kisha Lashawn Fisher as an accomplice to one count of first degree felony murder (RCW 9A.32.030) and as an accomplice to one count of second degree murder (RCW 9A.32.050), in connection with the death of Lenard Masten, and alleged that Fisher or an accomplice was armed with a firearm at the time of the offense (RCW 9.94A.530, .533). (CP 25-26) Mario Steele and Corey Trosclair were charged as co-defendants for the murder of Masten. (CP 25-26)

Fisher moved, under Washington's privacy statute (RCW

9.73.090), to suppress the recordings made during her two interviews with investigators, but the trial court denied the motion. (CP 43-52, 232-41; 07/12/12 RP 222-31) Fisher and Trosclair were subsequently tried together after the State agreed with Fisher's request to sever her trial from Steele's. (CP 8-23; 04/05/12 RP 3)¹ The trial court refused to give Fisher's proposed affirmative defense jury instruction, and the jury found Fisher guilty of both murder charges and the firearm allegation. (CP 5, 198-200; RP14 1684-1704; RP15 1829; RP16 1867, 1986-88)

The trial court entered an order dismissing the second degree murder conviction in order to avoid violating Fisher's double jeopardy protections. (CP 213-15; RP17 2006, 2011) Because of a 2009 conviction for taking a motor vehicle without permission, Fisher's offender score was one. (CP 216-17, 221) The trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 290 months plus a 60-month firearm enhancement, for a term of confinement totaling 350 months. (RP17 2009; CP 217, 224) This appeal timely follows. (CP 242)

-

¹ The trial transcripts, labeled Volumes I through XVII, will be referred to by volume number. The remaining transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained therein.

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

In January of 2011, Lenard Masten lived with his girlfriend, Michelle Davis, in an apartment in Lakewood, and made his living by selling drugs. (RP5 381-82; RP6 559) He had two cell phones, one that he used for "work" calls and one that he used for personal calls. (RP5 380-81, 392-93) Masten once dated Kisha Fisher, but Fisher now lived with her current boyfriend, Mario Steele. (RP7 746, RP8 794; RP14 1609) Masten and Fisher had recently reconnected after they encountered each other at a local bar. (RP8 794)

Sometime around 8:30 PM on January 16, 2011, Masten was shot in the parking lot of his apartment complex. (RP5 400, 409) Neighbors Shannon Henderson, Nadise Davis, and Denise Davis² heard the gunshot and saw a man leaning over Masten, apparently searching Masten's pockets. (RP5 433, 434, 435, 479, 480, 510; RP10 1045) Henderson observed a second man walking up a stairway towards Masten's apartment. (RP5 434) Nadise saw the man come back down the stairs, and noticed he was holding a gun. (RP5 480) The two men ran past Nadise, and left together in

-

² Nadise and Denise are Michelle Davis' sisters. Michelle Davis died before trial due to circumstances unrelated to this case. (RP5 475, 506) In the interest of clarity, the Davis sisters will be referred to by their first names in this brief.

a black SUV. (RP5 435, 436, 481, 510; RP10 1048-49) Neighbor Aaron Howell also saw a man standing at the bottom of Masten's stairway, and saw the man get into a dark SUV and drive away. (RP10 1048-49) Masten died at the hospital later that night, as a result of the gunshot wound. (RP9 1016, 1030)

Detectives investigating the shooting reviewed Masten's cellular phone records and noticed several incoming calls from one particular phone number in the minutes before Masten was shot. (RP6 687; RP8 774-77, 786-87) This same phone number had also placed a number of calls to one of Masten's cellular phones earlier in the afternoon of January 16, 2011. (RP8 784-88) The Detectives traced those calls and determined that two of the phone numbers were registered to Mario Steele, and one was registered to Cory Trosclair. (RP8 784, 785, 786-87, 791)

There were three calls placed after 8:00 PM from Steele's cellular phone to Masten's cellular phone. (RP8 786-87, 788) The last call received on Masten's cellular phone was placed at 8:24 PM, and was a three way call initiated by Trosclair's cellular phone, then connected to Masten's phone through Steele's cellular phone. (RP8 789-90)

Subsequently obtained cellular phone tower data indicated

that the calls made in the afternoon connected through towers near Masten's apartment. (RP8 826, 827-28; RP10 1117, 1123, 1147-48; Exhs. 90-107) This same data indicated that, for the 8:24 PM call, Trosclair's cellular phone connected through a tower near Masten's apartment, and Steele's cellular phone connected through a tower near Steel's apartment. (RP8 813, 829-30; RP10 1132-33, 1148) Masten received all of these calls through a connection from a tower located near his apartment. (RP8 827-28; RP10 1117, 1157) Generally, when a cellular phone initiates or receives a call, it will connect through the nearest cellular phone tower. (RP7 702-04)

Detectives interviewed Steele, Trosclair and Fisher. In her first interview, Fisher said she called Masten on the afternoon of January 16, 2011, because Steele wanted to purchase drugs. (RP8 794-95) Fisher placed a call to Masten, and then Steele and another man went to Lakewood to meet Masten and purchase drugs. (RP8 795) Fisher also initially told the Detectives that Steele went out again that evening, but that he did not tell her what he did. (RP8 797-98, 816-17; RP13 1570)

Witness Aaron Howell indentified Trosclair from a photo montage. (RP8 855-56; RP10 1059) Trosclair was arrested and

booked into the Pierce County Jail. (RP8 832; RP11 1235; RP13 1581) While he was there, he was confronted by Joseph Adams, who was a close friend of Masten. (RP12 1314, 1334) In fact, Adams lived with Masten a few months before the shooting, was his drug dealing partner and, in the hours after the shooting, drove to Lakewood and picked up Michelle Davis and two backpacks containing Masten's gun, money, and drug supply. (RP12 1317, 1322-23, 1327-28; RP13 1427, 1462) Adams testified that Trosclair admitted to him that he shot Masten. (RP13 1338)

According to Adams, Trosclair said it was an accident, and that he did not mean to shoot Masten. (RP13 1338) Trosclair told him that he and Steele decided to rob Masten because they felt the drugs he sold them earlier in the day were of poor quality. (RP13 1338)

In his interview with the Detectives, Steele indicated to investigators that Fisher knew more than she had initially indicated, so the Detectives eventually arrested and re-interviewed Fisher. (RP8 817; RP13 1585, 1587) In her second interview, Fisher acknowledged that she overheard Steele and another man discussing the idea of robbing Masten, but that the discussion did not take place directly in front of her and she did not participate.

(RP14 1628, 1638, 1644, 1646; CP 134, 135, 137) When the men left the apartment on the night of January 16th, she assumed they might rob Masten. (RP14 1629, 1638, 1641, 1643; CP 137) She told Steele not to get involved, but Steele said he was only going to show the men where to go so she did not think Steele was going to rob Masten. (RP14 1642, 1643, 1646; RP15 1796; CP 137, 151-52, 155)

Steele left his cellular phone at the apartment he shared with Fisher, and when he called her on Trosclair's phone and asked her to pass his call through to Masten, she complied thinking that Steele was only trying to set up another drug purchase. (RP14 1645; CP 131, 144) She assumed Masten would not answer his phone if he saw an unfamiliar number, so she connected Steele's call to Masten's phone. (RP14 1617) She told the Detectives that she did not speak directly with Masten, and only overheard Steele tell Masten that he was "about to be there." (RP14 1617; CP 125) When Steele came home, he told her that Masten had been shot. (RP14 1617; CP123) Fisher repeatedly denied any involvement in the planning of the robbery or shooting. (RP14 1609; CP 116)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT FISHER ACTED AS AN ACCOMPLICE TO FELONY MURDER OR TO SECOND DEGREE MURDER.

"Due process requires that the State provide sufficient evidence to prove each element of its criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt." City of Tacoma v. Luvene, 118 Wn.2d 826, 849, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn there from." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

Under RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(i)-(ii), an accomplice is one who, "[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime ... encourages ... or aids" another person in committing a crime. The evidence must show that the accomplice aided in the planning or commission of the crime and that he had knowledge of the crime. State v. Berube, 150 Wn.2d

498, 511, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003). An accomplice must associate herself with the venture and take some action to help make it successful. In re Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979).

Mere knowledge or presence of the defendant is not sufficient to establish accomplice liability. State v. Parker, 60 Wn. App. 719, 724-25, 806 P.2d 1241 (1991); Wilson, 91 Wn.2d at 491. Rather, the State must prove that the defendant was ready to assist the principal in the crime and that she shared in the criminal intent of the principal, thus "demonstrating a community of unlawful purpose at the time the act was committed." State v. Castro, 32 Wn. App. 559, 564, 648 P.2d 485 (1982); see also State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981); Wilson, 91 Wn.2d at 491.

1. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Fisher acted as an accomplice to robbery and therefore failed to establish that she is guilty of first degree felony murder.

When the crime charged is felony murder, then the State must prove that the defendant was an accomplice to the underlying felony. State v. Carter, 154 Wn.2d 71, 80-81, 109 P.3d 823

(2005).³ In this case, the State was required to prove that Fisher was an accomplice to an attempted or completed robbery of Masten.

In State v. Trout, the defendant, like Fisher, did not personally take part in the physical robbery or assault of the victim. 125 Wn. App. 403, 410-11, 105 P.3d 69 (2005). Trout appealed his convictions for first degree robbery and second degree assault, arguing that evidence was insufficient to establish that he acted as an accomplice to the crimes because he did not enter the apartment where the crimes occurred, and did not participate in the robbery or assaults that occurred inside the apartment. 125 Wn. The appellate court rejected his argument, App. at 410-11. because the State's evidence showed that Trout was present when the plan to rob the victim was hatched; he drove with the other participants to the apartment; he knew that several other participants had armed themselves with deadly weapons; he stood with the group as they pounded on the apartment door and forced their way inside; he watched from the doorway as the other

_

³ "[W]here an individual who is charged with first degree murder based on the felony murder provision of the first degree murder statute has not participated directly in the commission of the predicate felony, the State must establish that he or she was an accomplice to the predicate felony in order to sustain a conviction." Carter, 154 Wn.2d at 81.

participants assaulted and robbed the occupants of the apartment; and he eventually told the other participants that it was time to go. 125 Wn. App. at 411.

In this case, there was also evidence that at least some discussion about robbing Masten occurred in Fisher's presence. (RP14 1619, 1620, 1628; CP 128, 135, 137) But unlike in <u>Trout</u>, Fisher did not drive to Masten's apartment and did not observe the altercation, and there is no evidence that she knew either man was armed.

In an attempt to establish that Fisher was an accomplice to the crime, the State relied entirely on the fact that Fisher facilitated the final call between Steele and Masten, and on Fisher's lack of candor during her interviews. (RP16 1883-84, 1888-90, 1892-94) The State theorized that the final three-way phone call was made with the purpose of luring Masten out of his apartment so that Steele and Trosclair could rob him. (RP16 1870, 1882, 1975-76) The State argued that Fisher's statements and explanations were contradictory, so therefore she must be guilty. (RP16 1883-84, 1888-90, 1892-94)

But State's theory is just that: a theory. And a theory alone, without supporting facts, does not establish that Fisher aided or

agreed to aid the other men in robbing Masten, and that she shared in their criminal intent. The fact of the phone call coupled with Fisher's reluctance to discuss the case with the investigating Detectives, does not amount to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The State's evidence cannot justify Fisher's conviction for first degree felony murder, and this conviction must be reversed.

 The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Fisher acted as an accomplice to the assault that formed the basis for the second degree murder charge.

General knowledge by an accomplice that a principal intends to commit "a crime" does not impose strict liability for any and all offenses that follow. <u>State v. Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d 471, 513, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). The statutory language requires that the accomplice must have acted with knowledge that his or her conduct would promote or facilitate the crime for which he or she is eventually charged. <u>State v. Cronin</u>, 142 Wn.2d 568, 578, 14 P.3d 752 (2000) (citing <u>Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 513).

Thus, "[w]hile an accomplice may be convicted of a higher degree of the general crime he sought to facilitate, he may not be convicted of a separate crime absent specific knowledge of that general crime." State v. King, 113 Wn. App. 243, 288, 54 P.3d

1218 (2002) (citing <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Sarausad</u>, 109 Wn. App. 824, 836, 39 P.3d 308 (2001)). The culpability of an accomplice cannot extend beyond the crimes of which the accomplice actually has knowledge. <u>State v. Bolar</u>, 118 Wn. App. 490, 502, 78 P.3d 1012 (2003) (citing <u>State v. Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 511).

The State charged Fisher in count two with second degree murder, pursuant to RCW 9A.32.050, alleging that:

While committing or attempting to commit assault in the second degree, and in the course of and in furtherance of said crime or in immediate flight therefrom, the defendant or an accomplice shot Lenard Masten, and thereby causing the death of Lenard Masten.

(CP 26) Second degree assault occurs when one "intentionally assaults another . . . or assaults another with a deadly weapon or assaults another with intent to commit a felony." (CP 186)⁴

Accordingly, to convict Fisher of second degree murder, the State had to prove that Fisher acted with knowledge that the crime she was promoting or facilitating was an assault on Masten.⁵ But there is absolutely no evidence that any of the participants in this

.

⁴ See RCW 9A.36.021.

⁵ See e.g. <u>Cronin</u> 142 Wn.2d at 580 (in order to show that the defendant was an accomplice to first degree assault, the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant possessed general knowledge that the crime he was facilitating was assault).

incident ever discussed assaulting Masten, or that Fisher had any indication that an assault was intended, planned, or even a possibility. The evidence indicated at most that the participants discussed committing a robbery, and only a robbery. (RP14 1628, 1638, 1644, 1646; CP 134, 135, 137) And even Adams testified that Trosclair told him that the shooting "wasn't supposed to happen." (RP13 1338) One can plan or commit a robbery without planning or committing an assault, 6 so it cannot be presumed that Fisher knew that an assault could or would occur during the course of the robbery.

There is no evidence to support Fisher's second degree murder conviction, and this conviction should be vacated and dismissed with prejudice.⁷

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO INCLUDE FISHER'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE JURY INSTRUCTION DENIED HER CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE, AND TO HAVE THE JURY FULLY INFORMED OF THE APPLICABLE LAW.

Before trial, Fisher notified the State that she intended to present a "multiple participant" affirmative defense. (CP 5) Fisher

⁶ See RCW 9A.56.190, RCW 9A.56.200, RCW 9A.56.210.

⁷ Although the trial court entered an order dismissing count two on double jeopardy grounds (CP 213-15), a challenge to this conviction is still being raised to prevent the State, now or in the future, from attempting to revive this conviction.

also requested that the court include a jury instruction explaining this defense to felony murder and second degree murder,⁸ which is outlined in RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c) and RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b):

[I]n any prosecution under this subdivision . . . in which the defendant was not the only participant in the underlying crime, if established by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence, it is a defense that the defendant:

- (i) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, request, command, importune, cause, or aid the commission thereof; and
- (ii) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, article, or substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical injury; and
- (iii) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant was armed with such a weapon, instrument, article, or substance; and
- (iv) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury.

See also WPIC 19.01. The trial court denied Fisher's request for this instruction, finding that she did not provide sufficient proof of the elements of this defense. (RP14 1703-04; RP15 1829)

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and art. 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution grant criminal defendants the right to present a defense. See Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 23, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 1925, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967); State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983).

-

⁸ See RP14 1684-98, RP16 1867.

A defendant is also entitled to have the jury instructed on her theory of the case if there is evidence that supports the theory. State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997) (citing State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). And the defendant must prove an affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence. See State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 366-67, 869 P.2d 43 (1994); State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 125-26, 683 P.2d 199 (1984). It is reversible error to refuse to instruct the jury on an affirmative defense where a defendant has met this burden. Williams, 132 Wn.2d at 260 (citing State v. Griffin, 100 Wn.2d 417, 420, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)).

"In evaluating whether the evidence is sufficient to support a jury instruction on an affirmative defense, the court must interpret it most strongly in favor of the defendant and must not weigh the proof or judge the witnesses' credibility, which are exclusive functions of the jury." State v. May, 100 Wn. App. 478, 482, 997 P.2d 956 (2000).

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