COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

KISHA LASHAWN FISHER COREY TROSCLAIR, APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Vicki L. Hogan

No. 11-1-01011-4; 11-1-01002-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By KIMBERLEY DEMARCO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 39218

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

In closing, the prosecutor discussed the standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 1902. The prosecutor informed the jury to forget everything they knew of the burden from what they might have heard on television and to consider only the instruction given by the court. RP 1902. The prosecutor then quoted, verbatim, the court's instruction on reasonable doubt. RP 1902-03. Then the prosecutor stated:

Satisfied, if you have an abiding belief that the defendants committed the robbery, you have a duty to convict them. That's exactly what the instructions tell you. So once you are satisfied -- this is -- put this to you slightly different. At

some point you are going to be sitting back in the jury room and somebody is going to say, I know he did it, but I would like to see more. Well, of course you would like to see more. I know he did it but -- and I want you to stop to think and say, I know he did it, I know he did it. At that point you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge. You know he did it.

There is no such thing as a perfect trial. There is [sic] always things that you could want. You would like to have heard -- here's a perfect example in this trial. Would you like it if that video of black night was as clear as the video during the day? As clear as that picture of that video, would that be -- sure, we would all like that. That would have been great. It's a doubt that rises from the evidence or lack of evidence. In other words, when you are looking at the truth of the charge, you say it wasn't him. You say, they didn't try to rob Lenard Masten. The gunshot didn't kill him. That's a doubt that arises from the evidence, or the lack of evidence.

Do you have enough? It's not do you wish you had more. Do you have enough? There will always be something else that you would like to see. If you have an abiding belief it just means abiding, long lasting. Are you satisfied -- when you reach your verdict today, are you satisfied tomorrow, are you satisfied two years from now? When you wake up three years from now, I did the right thing. It's not I'm 1,000 percent certain. It's, I know he did it. Are you going to be satisfied two years from now? I know he did it.

RP 1903-05.

Nothing in this statement minimizes or trivializes the State's burden of proof. The argument discusses points out the fact that there are gaps in evidence in every trial, but that doesn't preclude the jurors from finding the defendant guilty if the evidence they did have convinced them

beyond a reasonable doubt. The prosecutor even correctly pointed out that a reasonable doubt can arise from the lack of evidence and it was for the jury to decide if any lack of evidence in this case affected whether they had an abiding belief in the truth of the charge. The prosecutor did not encourage the jury to convict on anything less than the burden of proof as stated in the court's instructions.

Moreover, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on the reasonable doubt standard. The prosecutor read this instruction before making this statement and concluded by directing the jury to follow the instructions. He did not tell the jurors to rely on the decision-making process they use in their daily lives, nor did he attempt to lower the State's burden of proof.

Trosclair has not shown that this argument was improper, let alone so flagrant and ill-intentioned that any prejudice could not have been cured by instruction.

b. The prosecutor's argument that the jury return a verdict that "speaks the truth" is not so flagrant and ill-intentioned any prejudice could not have cured any prejudice.

Washington courts have held that a prosecutor's "truth" statements are improper. *See State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

A jury's job is not to determine the truth of what happened; a jury therefore does not "speak the truth" or "declare the truth." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760. However, in absence of an objection, such statements are not reversible error unless they are "flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. Misconduct is to be judged not so much by what was said or done as by the effect which is likely to flow therefrom. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 762. Reviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 762.

In *Emery*, the Court held that similar statements as to the present case would have been curable by instruction because 1) they were not the type of statements the Court has held to be inflammatory, and 2) similar misstatements had been held curable by instruction in *State v. Warren*, 162 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), where the prosecutor misstated the burden of proof. 174 Wn.2d at 763-64.

In the present case, the prosecutor argued that both parties were entitled to a fair trial and that the State has to prove all the elements of the crime charged. RP 1905. The prosecutor then defined "voir dire" as French, for speak the truth and "verdict" as Latin for the same statement.

RP 1905; see also Exhibit 164. The prosecutor then stated "[w]e all get a fair trial." RP 1905. The prosecutor asked the jury to keep the principles of a fair trial to both the State and the defendants in mind and to return a "verdict that speaks the truth." RP 1905. Neither defendant objected to the statements. RP 1905.

Here, as in *Emery*, had Trosclair objected to the statement, the court could have properly explained the jury's role and reiterated that the State bears the burden of proof and the defendant bears no burden. Such an instruction would have eliminated any possible confusion and cured any potential prejudice stemming from the prosecutor's improper remarks.

4. TROSCLAIR HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT HIS COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS EITHER DEFICIENT OR THAT HE WAS PREJUDICED BY DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE.

The right to effective assistance of counsel is the right "to require the prosecution's case to survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing." *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S. Ct. 2045, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). When such a true adversarial proceeding has been conducted, even if defense counsel made demonstrable errors in judgment or tactics, the testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution has occurred. *Id.* "The essence of an ineffective-assistance claim is that counsel's unprofessional errors so upset the

adversarial balance between defense and prosecution that the trial was rendered unfair and the verdict rendered suspect." *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 374, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 2582, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986).

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy the two-prong test laid out in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); see also State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). First, a defendant must demonstrate that his attorney's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Second, a defendant must show that he or she was prejudiced by the deficient representation. Prejudice exists if "there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); see also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695 ("When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt."). There is a strong presumption that a defendant received effective representation. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1121, 116 S. Ct. 931, 133 L. Ed. 2d 858 (1996); Thomas, 109 Wn. 2d at 226. A defendant carries the burden of

demonstrating that there was no legitimate strategic or tactical rationale for the challenged attorney conduct. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 336.

The standard of review for effective assistance of counsel is whether, after examining the whole record, the court can conclude that defendant received effective representation and a fair trial. *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988). An appellate court is unlikely to find ineffective assistance on the basis of one alleged mistake. *State v. Carpenter*, 52 Wn. App. 680, 684-685, 763 P.2d 455 (1988).

Judicial scrutiny of a defense attorney's performance must be "highly deferential in order to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. The reviewing court must judge the reasonableness of counsel's actions "on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Id.* at 690; *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 633, 845 P.2d 289 (1993).

What decision [defense counsel] may have made if he had more information at the time is exactly the sort of Mondaymorning quarterbacking the contemporary assessment rule forbids. It is meaningless...for [defense counsel] now to claim that he would have done things differently if only he had more information. With more information, Benjamin Franklin might have invented television.

Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032, 1040 (9th Cir. 1995). As the Supreme Court has stated "The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable

competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight." *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8, 124 S. Ct. 1, 157 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2003).

In addition to proving his attorney's deficient performance, the defendant must affirmatively demonstrate prejudice, i.e. "that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Defects in assistance that have no probable effect upon the trial's outcome do not establish a constitutional violation. *Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2002).

A defendant must demonstrate both prongs of the *Strickland* test, but a reviewing court is not required to address both prongs of the test if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either prong. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

When the ineffectiveness allegation is premised upon counsel's failure to litigate a motion or objection, defendant must demonstrate not only that the legal grounds for such a motion or objection were meritorious, but also that the verdict would have been different if the motion or objections had been granted. *Kimmelman*, 477 U.S. at 375; *United States v. Molina*, 934 F.2d 1440, 1447-48 (9th Cir. 1991). An attorney is not required to argue a meritless claim. *Cuffle v. Goldsmith*, 906 F.2d 385, 388 (9th Cir. 1990). Generally, a defense attorney's failure

to object to a prosecutor's closing argument is not deficient performance because lawyers "do not commonly object during closing statement 'absent egregious misstatements.'" *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 717, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (*quoting U.S. v. Necoechea*, 986 F.2d 1273, 1281 (9th Cir. 1993)).

Here, Trosclair claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel for his counsel's failure to move to exclude evidence of a polygraph test prior to trial. *See* Appellant's Brief (Trosclair) at 39. However, as noted above, no evidence of Trosclair either taking or refusing to take a polygraph test was admitted at trial. Moreover, counsel moved for mistrial based on the evidence that was presented. *See* RP 866. Counsel's statement regarding why he did not object during testimony - that he did not want to draw additional attention to the statement - was a legitimate trial tactic.

Moreover, even if counsel had raised the issue pretrial, it is unlikely to have succeeded. Pretrial, counsel stated, "the last page they want him to take a polygraph. That needs to be taken out." RP 193. Yet the statement did not say that the officers wanted Trosclair to take a polygraph, or did it suggest that he refused such a request.

In addition, defendant's focus on counsel's performance during the State's rebuttal closing argument leads the court away from the proper

standard of review under *Strickland* and its progeny. The standard of review for effective assistance of counsel is whether, *after examining the whole record*, the court can conclude that defendant received effective representation and a fair trial. *Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d at 263. The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfection, and counsel can make demonstrable mistakes without being constitutionally ineffective. *Gentry*, 540 U.S. at 8.

The entirety of the record reveals that Trosclair received his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. He had an attorney who argued for severance from a non-testifying co-defendant, and for redactions in the co-defendant's out-of-court statements. RP 192-94, 208-19, 219-46. Counsel gave an opening statement. RP 377. Throughout the trial, he made relevant objections and cross–examined the State's witnesses. *See e.g.*, RP 389, 390, 393, 404, 424, 440, 458, 471. He also made a coherent closing argument. RP 1910-44. It is clear that defendant had counsel and that his attorney tested the State's case. Looking at the entirety of the record, defendant cannot meet her burden on either prong of the *Strickland* test.

5. TROSCLAIR HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT HIS TRIAL WAS RIFE WITH ERROR WARRANTING REVERSAL UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

The doctrine of cumulative error is the counter balance to the doctrine of harmless error. Harmless error is based on the premise that "an otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986). The central purpose of a criminal trial is to determine guilt or innocence. Id. "Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." Neder v. United States, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (internal quotation omitted). "[A] defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one, for there are no perfect trials." Brown v. United States, 411 U.S. 223, 232, 93 S. Ct. 1565, 36 L. Ed. 2d 208 (1973) (internal quotation omitted). Allowing for harmless error promotes public respect for the law and the criminal process by ensuring a defendant gets a fair trial, but not requiring or highlighting the fact that all trials inevitably contain errors. Rose, 478 U.S. at 577. Thus, the harmless error doctrine allows the court to affirm a conviction when the court can determine that the error did not

contribute to the verdict that was obtained. *Id.* at 578; see also **State v. Kitchen**, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) ("The harmless error rule preserves an accused's right to a fair trial without sacrificing judicial economy in the inevitable presence of immaterial error.").

The doctrine of cumulative error, however, recognizes the reality that sometimes numerous errors, each of which standing alone might have been harmless error, can combine to deny a defendant not only a perfect trial, but also a fair trial. *In re Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984); *see also State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 74, 950 P.2d 981, 991 (1998) ("although none of the errors discussed above alone mandate reversal...."). The analysis is intertwined with the harmless error doctrine in that the type of error will affect the court's weighing those errors. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 574 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995).

There are two dichotomies of harmless error that are relevant to the cumulative error doctrine. First, there are constitutional and nonconstitutional errors. Constitutional errors have a more stringent harmless error test, and therefore they will weigh more on the scale when accumulated. *See Id.* Conversely, nonconstitutional errors have a lower harmless error test and weigh less on the scale. *Id.* Second, there are

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